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RFP No. 1-13-C054 
Human Capital Consultant Services 

for the 
Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. The solicitation mentions legal compliance throughout. Are you seeking compliance 

applicable to Federal, District of Columbia, State of Maryland, or State of Virginia or all of the 
jurisdictions? 
 
Answer:  Federal and Virginia exclusively. 

 
2. Do teaming agreements have to be included in our proposal response? 
 

Answer:  Reference Section IX LOCAL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE 
PARTICIPATION REQUIREMENTS and exhibits. 

 
3. Will the MWAA also open up this opportunity to SDVOSB companies in order to meet disabled 

veteran utilization? 
 

Answer:  SDVOSB is not an Airports Authority requirement and therefore not used as a 
determination for award.  
 

4. May two firms submit a single team proposal as a joint venture, where one firm qualifies as a 
LDBE? Does MWAA mandate any particular requirements for such an arrangement? What 
documentation, if any, does MWAA require to be submitted as part of our proposal regarding 
this arrangement? 
 
Answer: Yes.  Reference Section IX LOCAL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE 
PARTICIPATION REQUIREMENTS and exhibits.  

 
5. Of the 7 listed tasks (pages 2-3 of the SOW), please provide an estimated (or firm) time frame 

for the performance for each of the remaining tasks (i.e., tasks 3-7). 
 

Answer:  A firm time frame for performance of Tasks 3-7 will be developed with the COTR and 
the successful offeror after contract award.  

 
6. Is the proposal required to be double spaced, or is it also acceptable to provide 10 pages 

single-spaced? 
 
Answer:  The proposal is required to be double spaced.   
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7. In what order should the sections presented? The ordering defined in the evaluation criteria 
contradicts with the requirements stated later. 
 
Answer:  Reference Amendment 02.  

 
8. Financial: Does the $200-400k estimate relate to the three deliverables or the entire set of 6 

specified tasks? 
 
Answer: The three (3) base period deliverables.  
 

9. Are price proposals supposed to cover the three deliverables or the entire set of 6 specified 
tasks? 
 
Answer: Reference Section III, Price Schedule.  Price is only one of several criteria upon 
which proposals will be evaluated.  Price evaluation will be based on the lowest conforming, 
responsible Offeror for the total price of the two-year base period plus the three one-year 
options.  
 
Hours shall be appropriately distributed among the positions proposed, with the total number 
of estimated hours equal to the indicated totals.  The hours shown are provided as best 
estimates only, and shall be used for price evaluation purposes.   
 
Such hourly estimates are not intended to represent a firm-fixed number of hours anticipated 
in connection with the performance of this contract but simply reflect an estimated order of 
magnitude. 

 
10. Content: What is the average incumbency level for the positions targeted for PSP and 

interview development? 
 
Answer:  Detailed information will be made available after contract award. 

 
11. When was the last comprehensive job analysis data collected? Are comprehensive job 

analysis data available for all job families referenced in this RFP? Can you describe the type 
of job analysis data that currently exists for the positions in question (e.g., are data available 
at the task and KSA level; types of ratings that were collected, etc.)? 
 
Answer:  Job analysis data has been captured at different points in time for various jobs 
within various job families.  This data is available at the duty or function level (but only at 
times at the task level) in official job descriptions.  Similarly, KSAs are defined in terms of 
duties (mainly) and at times at the task of function level.    

 
12. Can you clarify the expected outcome of employment specialist training? Should it be 

described as being able to apply and re-configure developed rating, ranking, and interviewing 
tools? Or, should it be described as at an advanced enough level to use guidance to develop 
new and or modified tools? 
 
Answer:  To apply and re-configure developed rating, ranking, and interviewing tools. 
 

13. What level of union involvement do you anticipate? 
 
Answer: We will brief the unions on the progress of the employment system development and 
on the completed system.  Anything that may represent a change in working conditions for 
the bargaining units will be subject to Impact and  Implementation (I&I) bargaining. 
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14. Would you characterize tasks 4, 5, and 6 as comprehensive, qualitative, and quantitative 
evaluations, or are they reviews focused on integration with the employment system? 
 
Answer:  Reviews focused on integration with the employment system.   

 
15. Task 1, h: is on-boarding within the scope this subtask? 

 
Answer:  Yes.    
 

16. Please provide anticipated delivery dates for Deliverables outlined on pages 3-7 of 
Attachment 01. This would aid offerors in estimating resource requirements Level of Effort. 
 
Answer:  Reference response to question 5.      
 

17. Is the Authority using the term Workforce Planning to mean recruitment strategy (on page 3 of 
Attachment 01), as indicated in Task 3? Should offerors be prepared to address the 
Authority’s workforce planning needs beyond the scope of reducing or eliminating existing 
and potential mission-critical vacancies as noted on page 3? 
 
Answer:  Yes, offerors should be prepared to address the Airport Authority’s workforce 
planning needs beyond the scope of reducing or eliminating existing and potential mission-
critical vacancies.   Reference Attachment 03, Strategic Human Capital Plan, Appendix D. 
Workforce Planning.   

 
18. How much integration with other contractors do you anticipate? 

 
Answer:  Not known at this time. 

 
19. With regard to the 600 hours listed as the limit on the Price Schedule for 1.0 Merit Staffing 

System, does the Authority contemplate that those hours would cover all the deliverables 
listed on pages 3-7 of Attachment 01, that is 1a-i? 

 
Answer:  Reference Amendment 02 and response to Question 9. 
 

20. How many classifications are under each of the 12 job families? 
 

Answer:  Safety Security and Health - 7, HR – 10, General Office and Administration– 8, 
Finance and Budget – 11, Airport/Aviation - 5, Engineering and Architect – 11, Business and 
Industry – 8, Information Technology – 4, Electric/Electronics - 4, Masonry and Asphalt - 1, 
HVAC - 6, Equipment Maintenance – 3. 

 
21. Was job analysis conducted for any of the classifications? If so, when were the studies 

conducted? 
 

Answer:  Reference response to Question #11. 
 
22. If not through job analysis, how were the KSAs in existing job descriptions developed?  
 

Answer:  Reference response to Question # 11. 
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23. How is training currently delivered to all employment specialists, selecting officials and 
supporting personnel? 

 
Answer:  Training is delivered in classroom, face to face. 

 
24. Do the training of employment specialists, selecting officials and supporting personnel need 

to be conducted in a specific medium/manner (online, in person, etc.)? 
 

Answer:  Initial training will be in-person Instructor Led Training (ILT).    
 
25. It is stated that the new, overall employment system must integrate all existing, already-

validated ways and means, including criteria and processes, of recruitment, selection and 
placement. What types of validation efforts have been implemented up to this point? 

 
Answer:  Only Police and Fire positions have validated ways and means.    

 
26. How was the draft PQS developed? 
 

Answer:  The DRAFT PQS was developed in the late 1990s and reflects traditional approaches 
to primary and secondary screening processes using content-valid criteria to establish 
Minimum Qualifications and rating and ranking criteria (with anchors).  However, the PSPs 
(actual selection plans) were never developed, nor was the PQS as a system adopted.  A staff 
member, with training and experience in employment and compensation (including job 
content analysis for selection and job evaluation purposes) developed the PQS. 

 
27. What processes are currently in place for recruitment and identifying critical sources of job 

candidates before talent is needed? 
 

Answer:  A variety of processes are used including on-going feedback from hiring managers 
and analysis of annual and five year budgets requests. 
 

28. What selection tools are currently being utilized (cognitive tests, personality measures, T&Es, 
interviews, etc.)? Are any of these tools delivered in an online format?  

 
Answer:  Interviews are the primary selection tool in use for non public safety positions.  For 
some trades positions, demonstrating skill and knowledge of specific equipment is required. 
None of the tools are provided online. 

 
29. Objectives of the SHCP include such things as the reduction of the use of paper forms, 

processing personnel actions from initiation to completion through online workflows, and 
implementation of a centralized and integrated system of employee data that is accessible to 
all managers. What electronic systems/software is currently being utilized, and what 
systems/software will be required for ongoing support/development in all areas identified 
under the scope of work? 

 
Answer:  Ceridian is the current Human Resource Information System (HRIS).  Going forward 
we expect the contractor to make recommendations on the use of the current HRIS system 
and if another system is more appropriate to the needs of the Airports Authority.  
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30. Does the Office of Human Resources have an estimate of the amount of time and resources 
that they will have to partner with the chosen consultant's team in completing the 
deliverables? 

 
Answer:  The consultant team will have sufficient access to all needed HR resources to 
complete the deliverables.  

 
31. With regard to the development of the 16 (minimum) guides and 24 PSP's, do these exist in 

any form today or will these guides be developed completely new? It would appear that the 
Consultant will be required to job families, job descriptions, and other documents to complete 
the guides and PSP's.  

 
Answer:  Neither guides nor PSP’s exist in any form today and will be developed completely 
new.   

 
32. With regard to the development of the 16 (minimum) guides and 24 PSP's, if all 40 of these 

documents are required to be completed in the 600 hour limit for this task, it would only allot 
15 hours per guide/PSP (if all hours were devoted to this task alone). Is our understanding of 
the outcome described and hours allocated accurate? 

 
Answer:  Reference Amendment 02. 

 
33. With regard to the training specified for Deliverable 1 subsection d, does the Authority have 

any preferred method of training? Could you elaborate further on how you will judge that the 
training has met the requirements of the SOW? Would the Authority require testing of 
employees to ensure their understanding? 

 
Answer:  Initial training will be in-person Instructor Led Training.  An assessment of 
employees’ knowledge and skill in establishing and applying selection criteria and processes 
post training is required.  Training materials need to be in sufficient detail and format so that 
Airports Authority personnel can deliver any future training. 

 
34. Given the detailed description of the deliverables, and the deadline for response to questions 

would the Authority consider extending the deadline for RFP responses to allow for a more 
complete response once all questions and answers are published? 

 
Answer: Reference Amendment 02. 

 
35. If we understand the pricing page correctly, the Merit System deliverable is limited to 600 

hours, the Workflow System deliverable is limited to 200 hours, and the Human Capital Plan is 
limited to 200 hours, for a total of 1,000 hours over a 2 year period. This would equate to a 
one-quarter FTE work effort over the base period of two years. Is this approximate level of 
work effort in line with the expectations of the Authority, given the description of the 
deliverables? 

 
Answer:  Reference Amendment 02 and response to Question 19. 

 
36. Do you have an expected start and end date, i.e., period of performance, for the 3 deliverables 

in the Statement of Work? 
 
Answer:  Start date will be within one week of award of contract.  End dates for each 
deliverable will be determined through consultant and COTR discussions.  Task 1 
deliverables, a, b, c, d are of primary importance and will be completed no later than 3rd 
quarter 2013. 
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37. Are resumes and past performance included in the 20 page limit for the technical proposal? 

 
Answer: Both may be attached as exhibits. 

 
38. You refer to workflow documentation and integration notes that already exist, from Booz Allen 

and IBM, respectively, on p. 7 of Attachment 01, the Statement of Work, Deliverable 2. Are you 
able to share that documentation? 
 
Answer:  Documentation will be provided to the successful offeror.  

 
39. On Section V, p. V-5, you indicate that the Authority contemplates a fixed-hourly rate task 

order. Please explain the basis of invoicing for this type of task order.  
a. Is payment based on the number of hours worked by labor category? Or is payment 

based on a fixed cost estimate, accepted by the Authority, based on the hourly 
labor category rates that the contractor and Authority agree on in the contract?  

 
Answer: Each Task Order will be issued per a fixed price proposal based on fixed hourly labor 
rates in accordance with Section III, Price Schedule.     

 
40. Based on the pricing schedule, it appears that the Authority expects the maximum hours 

worked on Deliverables 1, 2 and 3 is 1,000 total. Is it acceptable to quote more hours as long 
as the base period cost is within the $200,000-400,000 expected range? 
 
Answer: Reference Amendment 02 and response to Question 19.  The Authority will consider 
all proposals that meet the requirements of the solicitation.   

 
41. Under Place of Performance on Section V, p. V-5, the RFP says that all work will be performed 

at the Airports Authority. Are contractors allowed to perform part of their work on their own 
premises, when it is more efficient and effective to do so?  
 
Answer:  Reference Amendment 02.  

 
42. Can the 15% WBE/MBE be part of the 25% LDBE set aside? 

 
Answer: Yes, a firm may satisfy both at the same time; however, the 25% LDBE participation 
is a mandatory requirement while the 15% WBE/MBE is voluntary.   

 
43. How did you decide on 24 PSPs? Are you estimating an average of 2 PSPs per job family as 

an upper limit for the task order?  
 
Answer: 1 to 3 PSPs within a job family are sufficient to ‘demonstrate’ a job family Guide.  In 
addition, assessment of the jobs within each job family by the successful offeror, along with 
knowledge of the number of positions within a job (such as number of full performance level 
“Airfield Electricians”), the criticality of the job (such as “Airfield Electrician”) to the Airports 
Authority and other factors, will lead the Airports Authority and the consultant to agree on the 
PSPs to be developed. 

 
44. In Attachment 01, Statement of Work, Page 6, items 1.e through 1.h, what is meant by a 

system?  
 
Answer: An integrated framework of management policies, programs, processes, practices 
and services.  
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45. Does MWAA want the contractor to supply an information technology (IT) system that tracks 
HR actions, including recruitment and selection, and contributes to planning as part of this 
contract? Or does MWAA already have an HR IT system that it uses to track HR actions? If so, 
does MWAA want the contractor to specify a process (i.e., steps) that uses its current HR IT 
system to track information? If MWAA has an HR IT system, what system does it have? 
 
Answer: The Airports Authority utilizes Ceridian HRIS and the offeror will specify a process 
using this system. The successful offeror can make recommendations as it relates to an IT 
system but supplying a system is not in the scope of this RFP.   

 
46. In Attachment 01, Statement of Work, Page 6, items 1.e.-1.h, are you looking for (a) delivery of 

transactional recruitment and staffing services to be implemented by the contractor in 
addition to (b) delivery of a system of policies, processes and procedures to be developed by 
the contractor in conjunction with MWAA, but implemented by MWAA staff? By transactional 
staffing services, we mean, are you looking for the contractor to perform such tasks as 
entering tracking information into the system and other recordkeeping; managing recruitment 
personnel actions; conducting ongoing consulting/liaising with centers of influence, the 
airport industry, key technical fields, etc.? 

 
Answer:  Delivery of a system of policies, processes and procedures to be developed by the 
contractor in conjunction with MWAA, but implemented by MWAA staff.  We are not looking 
for the contractor to perform transactional staffing services. 

 
47. Approximately how many FTEs (full and/or part time) are dedicated to recruiting candidates 

for MWAA? 
 

Answer:  Three FTE “Employment Specialists” and one FTE “Employment Technician” 
notwithstanding such tangential functions as personnel records services. 


